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CHRIS: Correct, make 1 copy and send MXKM$y 1 copy tc Dr. Hanson with
attached note:

Dear Art:

I did not know Mrs. Nishimot© was only ten years ©I d while at camp, 

but I enjoyed talking with her Her description ©f h er familyfs preble 

(on p. 6) is iiafeoBoatn interesting . I did not get this kind of 

data when I was at Tule Lake - ©r later«



Mrs. Nishimot© is the sister of the wife Tsurud
Tsuruda is the son of my Tule Lake respondent, B©b 

Tsmruda.
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HWt Hello. Is this j\/^»<0

RWi This is Professor Rosalie Wax and it was

NNi Yes.

who suggested that I get in touch with you.

NNi Oh yes.

RWi If you have a minute to talk, I can tell you ab out 

it. How do you feel?

NNi Yeah, I have a minute. I don*t know if I can gi ve 

you any good information or not.

RWt Well, it's more of a biography that you just te ll 

me what happened to you« jknd of course, I won't us e your 

name on it, and I don't really intend to publish an y-

Rockefeller Foundation on how the people are doing today* 

yett==4wmv.

NNi Well. You mean the war time, don't you?

RWi Yes. You see I was in Tule Lake myself as a 

student “ ’ersity of California. And I got

NNi Oh, I see.

RWi And so, I have a fine history of all he told me , 

which is very, very impressive.

NNi Well, I was only 10 at the time.

RWi Oh, I see.

NNi So i can't really tell you too much.

RWi Well, it would just be the views of a 10 year o ld,

which are kind of different from others/and if you have

thing at the moment. I just write a report for

to know very well. He was a fine man.

any impressions.

NNi The first impression that comes to my mind was I
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Had so many friends to play with.

In this war relocation center in Tule Lake. I was 

also there too.

RWt Yes.

NNi That was where my sister was born.

NiKIti*
RWi Yes, oh is your sister.

NN i Yes. She is my sister right below me.

RWi And you were 10. Let ’s see..you were not sent t o an 

assembly center then.

NNi Yes, we were.

RWi Oh.. £

NNi That was in Wajtferga. And from there we were s ent to 

Tule Lake. D
l  9

WWt Did you have more friends in WaJHerga or in Tul e Lake*-, 

wiich did you like better?
r~>

N Ni Wal^erga was^short term, so I had friends.. Of cou rse

you made friends being that age. But in Tule Lake w e stayed

there longer and went to Japanese school in morning , and

English School in the afternoon - so that anytime t hat you

wanted to leave, you could continue in a public sch ool.

That’s what they had in mind. It was just required aubjects

like &ath, English and P.E. I guess it was. I can’t  remember

too well, but..that was my first impression because  I didn't

know all these emotional and worries and financial status%
tiX . .

and things like that..being a 10 year old.^didn’t c ome to mind. 

But the nicest part I think to me was I had a lot o f friends
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to play with because living out in the country, 'm couldn't. 

&nd then we didn't go to church regularly, we cdUdn 't.

RW» What did you play and where?

NNt Oh just around block ..games, whatever.

Nothing special and of course they had a recreation ..in every 

block they had a recreation barrack, so there were things to 

do. I guess they were donated..there were ping pong  tables, 

and baseball bats, whatever. That sort of stuff. I don't 

know where it^ame from « moneys wise.

RWt Some of it was donated by, you know, church peo ple and so 

on.

NN* Things like that I don't know, but it was there .

RWi You just played and generally.,,

NNi ^.studied.

RWi Yeah, and studied. And can you think of anythin g that 

happened then that..

NNi Something that really frightened me was the rio ts.

RWi Oh jps J b . 1*« /

NNi Because, never involve anything..I never saw an ything,

or read anything..that really frightened me and I t hought to 

G*
myself, "gee, we're all Japanese and some people ar e so 

violent.” I couldn't believe that. Because I was to ld that 

Japanese were very kind, shy and all this. My paren ts 

you see, said a "woman never smoked" and we were su ppose 

to be quiet people and that's the impression I got,  and then 

to see this riot..and see different kinds of people  that 

I have never encountered before..

RWi Was this..now I want to make sure that I know w hich 

one you are talking about..because..
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NN * In Tule Lake..

RWt ¥«bfe7̂ SwKt^axticular le***^#- riot or fuss./ihe re was one 

after a farm worker was killed..there was this big demonstration 

^ k d * D a j £ y o  sha kai* âybe as a little girl you woul dn't

NNi I don't know what the riot was about. It could have been

that.

RWi And then laterton there were these people who m arched 

and said wanted to show that they were real Japanes e.

NNi Yeah, well we weren't thati f i*^^/ '

RWi No, you weren't that.

NNi Because our parents wanted us to continue our E nglish 

education, you know, that was a must.

RWi I was wondering..I think, .you correct me now. .wha t^w^

m m * have impressed you was maybe when.. ri-iiuu;i« wha t .happened, 

som^young boys went up and made a big fuss at the a dministration 

building and the project director turned the thing îjubi  J U - J

the authority over to the army and then tanks came in..is that 

what you remember?

NNi No, I don't remember that at all.

RWt Gee, what do you remember that scared you. I*.®  just 

curious.

N Ni I just know that it was a riot. And all these peop le 

fighting, and I don't know if they had anything in their hands#

^ihat I don't remember.

• 1
RWi Gee. You saw people fighting.

NNi Well, it was called a riot, not just two peqpLe  fighting., 

you know, just groups of people. And I kind of thin k it was 

the group thatrwi=sJao group and the other group. T he ^ s h o  

group were.'T^ey had interv~ded to go back to .Japa n, regardless 

of the war, and I think that was what it was about.
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RWi Yeah.

NNi A lot of friction I remember.

RWi Yeah. That was really scary.

NNi And that’s the thing I remember that was fright ening, 

because I had never seen that before.

RWt Yes.

NNi Especially among your own people.

RWt There was a kind of., banging around between th e vi*" e 

group and some of the people who were with the .wel l,

I don’t know just what they called themselves.

NNi I don't either, (laughs )

RWi (laughs ) Bu t i t ’s hard to remember when you’re ten..

NNi Scenes like that were vague.^nd then I remember  when they 

came to search our barracks•.was a funny feeling.

RWi Oh, this will help, was that after the riot?

NNi Probably.

RWi Yeah, I see what you mean. Did anything happen when they 

searched your barrack!

NNi No , we didn't have anything. They confiscated radios a nd 

stuff like that. But we didn’t have anything valuab le, you 

know, like short wave radios, things like that.

RWi I suppose weapons, knives..

NNi Yeah, and things like that, but we didn't have anything. 

And anything J a p a n e s e , that we did have, you know, the few 

that we did have, I think my parents burned it befo re we 

went into the camp. Because we were told that you c ouldn’t 

keep it. As I recall the only thing that my mother had was 

some Buddhist, religious things, but she burned tho se.

RWi And she had to burn those?

NNi Yeah, she burned those.
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WU "Te STi, JL'w  a 10 yga r..y i ti¿■ t*44frMtfa£U»

RWt You remember anything else that was scary?

NNi No, I don't. Of course, the kind of living was different 

you know, you had community bathroom and the shower s and stuff 

like that, which I had never experienced, but other  than that 

I can't really..going to school and studying kept m y mind busy, 

so you kind of got used to the routine..didn't thin k too much 

of it.

RWi You sound like you were a very studious, hard-w orking little 

girl.

NNi Well, not really. I like to play. I remember pl aying /o u

RWi What games did you play?
j z --- -  ■ 1

NN: Oh, you know girlggames (lik^..you know, we'd g o to the 

bathroom because it was cement and play jacks in th ere and 

we had a basketball court...well, each block had on e, so we 

played basketball, volleyball..the usual stuff. I r emember 

playing ping-pong.

RWt When you left the camp, did you still keep in t ouch with 

these girls that you played with or have you kind o f..

NNt Yes, one. Just one. She lives in Sacramento now .

RWi And she is still a goodfriend of yours?

NNi Pardon?

?
RWt She is still a good friend of yours.

NNi Yes. In fact I'm going to see her Tuesday. She' s going.

RWt That's very nice.

NNt The rest of the girls, they just stopped writin g.#we just 

lost touch, but this particular one*.we just did be cause..I 

guess distance..we live so close. Sacramento isn't too far 

away, and I can always call here or we write to eac h other.
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We see each other at least 2-3 times a year on our way to 

RenO'(\ So she is the only one.

RWt .~lhis is the first time I've talked to somebod y who

was just 10.

NNt She may have a different impression fchat she t hought. 

Because..we never really discussed it..but the dres s..the

hearings that they had on TV? I don't know remember  all that 

hear tbreak where these old ladies were speaking and Acrying you 

know. I guess it was really emotional and a trauma,  but you 

see I didn't know this..and so when I was watching parts of 

this* i t  was very interesting. I didn't get to see all of it. 

RWt I am myself was older and I know a lot of peopl e who had 

very terrible and frightening experiences.

NNi Yeah, because one lady said that they searched her body. 

Well they didn't search me, of course, being little , but I 

don't remember that.

RWi Let's see, I'm trying to think like a 10 year o ld, so I 

can ask you, let's see..what did you get the most k ick out of 

doing?

NNi Oh gee..there wasn't really too much that you c ould do,

you wereiconfined. We enjoyed hiking though. We 

to hike the mountains there as you recall.

RWt Yeah, there is that high mountain.

NNt That was kind of nice because you couldn't do a ny tMng  

else, and they showed movies later on, That was kin d of nice 

because when I was little we didn't get a chance to  s e e T ^ /7VyVA*ŝ  

movies!oat in the country. That was kind of nice. A nd of
f\

course, there were the canteens and well they were to go 

buy ice cream which I thought was nice because we c ouldn't 

get ice cream too often being out in the country. W e only

Ji
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got to buy it when we went to town
IPC-t Mr*~

RWi —You were aliLawed_to go to^feewt̂ ,

NN * . -yoU:,,]aiO¥ . gBffftir ..

p̂ĵ t̂hecfepi We couldn’t spend too much money beca use of 

our finances.

tawn,̂ aitd'f̂ VgH' t ;:̂<gr©û ibav.;Aae- -.cr#&m?'^

l i t  No, ,-thoy had g^ggfifr6«ii . inr,rthe . ^ w ip.

RW * Oh yes ; that ’ § ‘ r 1 git t the^* f td.

NN* m Later on. they did^

RWi I was just curious..it was

your father, and mother and you in camp and how man y children? 

NNi Oh my mother, father, 2 sisters and 2 brothers I had.

RWi And then Tule was born there?

NN* Yeah. I ’m counting her too because she was born  there. 

RW* It sounds to me the way you talked that you mus t have 

had very fine parents who kind of sheltered you.

NN* Well, my father was stubborn..well, they didn’t  do too 

much talking..if they did..it was when I wasn’t the re or 

being in Japanese I^didn’t understand. I really did n't know 

what was going on.

RW* I beg your pardon?

NN* I said I really didn’t know what was going on e xcept that 

it was the war•• What 's a war? *?

Two countries, fighting, you know.

lyen' tj talked to l i ke^o

talk to womenjpf 'm going' to see tjiat I get "some ^ore inter* 

views" with women.
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you

could tell me a little about your life and about le aving Tule 

Ldej if you remember any of thati

NNi Okay..They had this yes and no business. You re member 

that?

” ■ H l i  ■

NNi The nos went to Japan and stayed. My father

very stubborn, Nte wanted to go back, but my brothe r said 

"one left" with his disapproval..

RWt What?

NNi My oldest brother left..see I had one in Japan you see. 

RWi Oh, oi i^oide^brother did go to Japan.

NNi Yeah, he was there. Ttoa waaf» «r

— .  '
Nw'  The war broke out. He came to visit us and he w ent back 

to Japan. I have an older brother living there. He was born 

here, but he wasJLeft in Japan. He came to visit us  and he 

went back ana«after that the war broke out. And aft er this
K

,1»
\/yes and no business., the second brother, which i s the oldest

here in the United States said "no" he wasn't going  back. My

father wanted us to go back, and then my third brot her said

"you're getting older and we'll be taking care of y ou so

he said we can't make a living in Japan, we don't k now the
v\ . t*l

language. So he talked to him and said^Wo^we can't go back. 

And so he listened, my father listened to him and t hen we 

decided to stay and so my other brother, the second  one who 

is oldest here, he didn't want to sign any kind of paper 

yes or no and so then he left and got married. And so then
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~ said- "«0, fcad we got to stay here because
A > C<JcT~&

my third brother 

we can't support you in Japan” he stayed on^for som e reason.

I guess he renounced his citizenship. He was undera ge, but he

did what his father said. Okay.

He didn't want to but he obeyed his father and did this.
»»

So then, the brother that left and married called u s said '̂Jt's OK;

- U
you can come.

RWi Can r  ask about the brother who left? He reloca ted in the 

United States?

NNi Yeah. He just left and moved to Utah, that was. .because we

couldn't go back to where we were before because we  didn't own

the land and we couldn't go back to it so he had a buddy

lived in Utah, so he went over there first anuj3hor tly after

that..I guess everybody was leaving anyway now..the y were
/X- d -ifb*  P ĵ i —

closing up I think, okav.^th«-- J i 3̂ )  was made,that we were

to leave, but the brother that denounced his citize nship’ could
■ | N

not leave; people like that. So there were a bunch of them 

left. And then, so we left.

RW* And you went to Utah?
Of\A/A"

NNi Yes, we followed^®*«* older brother and left an d we lived 

there for a while. And then after thax,. they said they really 

were going to close the center, then my brother he came and/yhe 

joined the army because there was no job. He really  wanted 

his citizenship back and hê iSifet perhaps>that way  he could get

it back.

?
RWi ..by joining the army.

NNi OJEtm he couldn't go to college. He was bright but he

couldn't go, because we were in the camp.
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RWi Did he get it back?

NNi I think he did. I think you automatically do.

RWt ..when he joined the army.

NNi Yeah, and he told them what had happened becaus e the 

questionnairesw^SM^sayycertain questions that, "did  you re�

nounce your citizenship" or whatever about this rel ocation 

center, and he was very truthful and he said "yes".  And.. I
A

think he did get it back.

RWi That really makes me feel good. It seems that y ou

&  *
and your family that you made out quite well in dif ficult time

1 A
and situation.

NNi Yeah, considering that we are not rich.

RWi Yeah, you did real well.

NNi We're making a go of it.

RWi Where did you go after Utah, did you go to California?

NNi Let's see after Utah, I graduated high school t here and
i || ' K

then we came back to California. Because this other  brother 

he came back to California because his in-laws had a place to
A

farm and so he went there with his wife % okfarnAand then he
" A

called us over there again. My sister and I were bo th working. 

Of course Towro was still going to school yet* S o  t hen we 

came back to California and then*I don't like count ry farming# 

I'm allergic to the dirt or whatever and I just cou ldn't do 

that kind of work, stooping over, and so I decided that I 

would come to San Francisco and work a little bit a nd go to 

some kind of a school. So that's what I did.

RWi What did you study?
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NNt Well, jobs were hard to come by then, because p eople 

were still prejudiced jret. So I went to a, let's s ee what 

was that called, a key punching type of school, and  then they 

place you.

RWi Key punching..

NNi Yeah, it was a keypunching* Q f course, they didn't have 

computers then. But it was a keypunching school and  then they 

would place you.

RWi T&oy- woul^ piUiet? . Did you get a job?

NNi Yes, I did get a job.

RWi Good!

NNi Yes, for an insurance company.

RWi And so now I guess you're married, do you have children? 

NNi Yes, I do.

RWi How many.

NNi I have 2.

RWi Good. I'm very happy for you.

NNi I married late, so my children are still young yet.

RWi I hear the noise. Well, this is a really nice t alk

we've had. I have^very short question^ I'd like to ask.

Could you give me the place where you were born and  the

�� ������
day of births

NNi Sure. I was b o m  in Kent, Washington.

RWi In Washington State?

NNi Yes. Kent.

RWi And you birth day.

NNi January 19, 1931»
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RWi And do you know anybody else who was in Tule La ke who 

might be a little older and who wouldn't mind havin g this 

kin^6f talk with me?

NNi Let's see..older..can't think of any~body older .

RWi If need..f *

NNi No, I can't think of anybody older, even if I d id I 

wouldn't know where they are.

RWi Yeah, you're living now where there aren't many  Japanese 

Americans around, is thsTt right?

NNi There are, M K  because we have our Japanese Amer ican 

Citizens'* League, Sut our age differences is a lit tle 

different and they're not from Tule Lake.

rc^y'rr fnri^Tn-ln Tilrr *

W *  A lot of them are from other centers.

RWi Well, then I'll say give my love to T O R .  I've g ot to 

phone her one of these days and just chat. She was so nice

to me. . r g S T l y * n e e r . Aweb t̂eSTT“}^. .3ihe

gave me the names of a number of people who had bee n at Tule 

Lake. I haven't reached them yet, but..well I have some, butv > 9V
I'll keep trying.

NNi Well, if I think of anybody, I'll get your addr ess from 

her and let you know. I'll keep thinking about it.

RWt That's very kind of you. Thank you.

NNi Oh thank you for calling.

RWi Thanks a lot. This was really fun. ^rm « h i*- . T , - f  firrr~ 

NM»nî 95hre.

RWi eieeys lihank you and if you do hear of anybody , that 

really would like to talk, I would just love it.
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NN* Oh, you know there is this one man, I don't kno w camp

¿¡fc v*-4f’V
he was in, but he kept all those tags and̂ saiifri. You know 

the numbers that we had and all that#

RW* Yeah, numbered like animals#

NN* I told him, he's a member of our church, I told  him I'd 

like to see them, because I don't know what happene d to ours.

I never thought of keeping that.

RW* You know, I never knew they put numbers on you.  Where 

was that?

NN* Oh yeah, every family had a number.

RW* I see.

NN* You should talk to him. Because he's older thou gh.
?

RW* Well, that would be fine, but was he at Tule La ke.

HN* That I don't know. I ’ll have to check with him.  If I think 

he did, then I ’ll drop you a line and tell you.

RW* That would be real kind.

NN* Okay.

RW* Thanks so much.

NN* Thanks for calling. It's been great talking to you.

RW* It's a pleasure.

NN* Okay, good bye.

RW* Good bye.

End of interview # 312



Rtf: Vtd you have. mone ¿Atends tn  Walenga on. in  Tate Lake? Which did you t ik e  betten?

NN: Walenga was a shont tenm, 4 o I had ¿Atends. . .0£ counse you made ¿niends being tha t
« age. But tn  Tute Lake we stayed thene longen and went to Japanese school tn  monning,
! and English SehooZ tn  the a^tennoon - so tha t anyttme that you wanted to leave, you 

-4 eouZd conttnue tn  a pubZte school. That's what they had tn mtnd. I t  was ju s t ne- 
\ qutned subjects Ztke Math, EngZtsh and P.E. I guess t t  was. I can't nememben too 

wetZ, but. . .tha t was my ft¿nst tmpn.esston because I didn 't know aZZ these emottonaZ 
and woAAtes and ¿tnanctal status and thtngs Ztke that. ... being a 10 yean. oZd. . . 
t t  d idn 't come to mtnd. But the nicest pant I th ink to me was I had a lo t  o£ intends 
to play with because Ztvtng out tn  the countny, you couZdn't. And then we d idn 't 
go to chunch Aegutanly, we couZdn't. f

RW: What did you pZay and whene?

NN: l  Oh ju s t anound ouA block. . .games, whateven. Nothing special and oi couAse they 
| had a Aecneatlon. . .tn  eveny block they had a Aecneatton baAAack, so thene wene 
I things to do. I gu.£44 they wne donated. , .theAe wene ptng pong tabZes, and basebaZZ 
I bats, whateven. That sont oft stu^fi. I don't know whene t t  came ¿Aom - money-wise.

► Stf*--- Some-o-ft- t t  -was ■ ■ donated byy~̂ you~ know, chuAcJt-peopZe-- and -so * on.

NgÛ  Things Ztke thxt-T  don't k n o ^ b u t IXwas them .

Rtf; You ju s t played and genenally. , ,

NN: f and studied.

Rtf: Ve&hfzand^trcdi^d. And can you th ink o£ anything tha t happened then that. , .

NN; Something that neally £ntghtened me was the Alois.

RW: Oh yes.

NN: Because,uneven Involve anything. . .1 neven saw anything, oa  Aead anything. . .tha t
neally ¿tightened me and I thought to myseli, "Gee, we'Ae a lt  Japanese and some 
people one so vio lent." I couldn't believe th a t. Because I was to ld  tha t Japanese 
wene veny kind, shy and a l l  th is . My panents you see, said a "woman neven smoked" 
and we wene suppose to be quiet people and tha t's  the impnession I got, and then to 
see th is  n iot. . .and see dififienent kinds ofa people that 1 have neven encountened 
begone. , .

Aiad that’s the thing I remember that was frighteRi ng, beeause I had never 
seen that befnre*

And then I remember when they same t© searehinur ba rrasks* • . that was 
a funny feeling*

R* Wax: Did anything hasten when they searehed ynur  barraeks?

N. Sishimet»:? n ©
we didn't have aaytbing.Tfciey eenfisoated radies a nd stuff like



that, but we didn't have anything. And anything Ja@ an.esy, that we did 

have, the few that we did have, I think my parents burned it befere we 

went int© nata®/ Because we were told we .«ouldn’t keep it. The* ©nly 

thing that my mether had was seme Buddhist, religio us things, but 

she burned these.

R. Wax: De you remember anything else that was sear y?

N. Nishimot©: He, I d©n't. Of course, the kind ©f l iving was different,

yeu know. You had community bathroem and the shower s and stuff like 

that, which I had never experienced, but ether than  that I can’t 

really • • going t© school and studying kppt my min d busy.

S® you kind ©f got used t@ the routine. . éx  didn’t think to© much

ef it.

R.Wax: You sound like you were a very studious, har d-working little girl.

N. Nishim t̂®: Well, net really. I like t© play. I r emember playing 

a let.

T . Wax: What games did you ©lay?

N. Nishimote: Oh, yeu know, like girl’s games • • w e’d g© to the bathr^em 

because it was cement and ©lay jacks in there and w e had a basket�

ball ceurt. . well, each block had ene. S© we playe d basketball, 

vellyball . . the usual stuff. I remember playing a riopcjgMiot ping-eeng.

ItW: When yeu left xxxx the camp, did you still keep in teueh with these g irls 
that yeu played with jf er have yeu kind ef. .

NN: Yes, ene. Just ene. She lives in Sacramente new .

HW: Sad she is still a geed friend ef yeura?
NN: Yes. In fast I ’m geing te see her Tueday.



Naoko Nishimoto - January 10, 1982

w A A u Z o n e  ̂3̂ \ w V v 4£ topped W.m to

i r r J s i i t e  «F - ̂ r J ta n  ¿a ifu  a t
is ̂ e  TAy one on <>“* “V  *® Reno. QaugHsi So ¿fee

Tfets ts the {Inst time I 've  talked to somebody who was ju s t 10.

d Z Z t Z u  a ^bfZTaS%?°n WhZ  i hz **“ «**• Becatwe- '

M , C A  M  tha t heantbfieak wheAe' those o Z Z A A ^ e Z l p ^ V n A t h l y t Z e 
know th is “ m and ^  WM 'L̂ af t y  emotional and a Viauma, but you see I didn’t
i Z Z t g e k  t  see Z  ol I Z  ^  *< * * •  «  ™  ^  I n t Z s t Z g

IxT Ju J ieZ  °MeA aU�	� knm at0t 0i p i°pU * °� � ���tw u b le  a

NN:
d idn 't ¿zcuizh mzf

RW:

• NN:
l & ^ ’i S S f J U ^ t  “ ' 4  J 2 ST  " 1 -  • *  « •  • •

2 4 S » « S f t S S . ' * S “ S i « f i s f ' t f c ' s s e. " r ‘̂ ‘- "e c

Yzah, thzAz am that (tigh mountain,

S A i T n .  ^ t A ^ t A T ^ A f e ^ Z ^ e w h i n H f t t t l ' V S l f f  “ ,mo^  0

i & s i s i  sfssut
nice fcecawe n n o L T  / / °  £“* ^  Meflm 1 ^ “3 «  «*w .

V  3oi
p i ouA j^nahces,.:  ^pend too muck monzy bzzaupz^

RW’ aftf&fcSiff 11111H*' ■  - ^  awd you and how many

NN: Oh, my motheA, {athea, two slstens and two baothens l. had.

NN... , Vzak, >»7 i lil c.0iwtinpu /igA ,t/mm bzzciu&z ¿hz was r boAn^tirzAz ,

VJ

RW:

NN:

H  T j L f d  5 ? *  5/011 **“*  * “ Muii ̂  •'«¡f «Sine parents who kind

WeU my {athen was stubborn. . welt, they didn't do too much talking U

i  i e r t i y  dlZ'TknoTwlA ^ g o V T 1"Japan^  1 p;w6a6^  

I 6eg youA pa/idon?

: S S  ’ r T S J i t l f  S S f  £  £ 3  � � �� � � ~

dcci
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EW: CouZcTyou te l l  me a l i t t l e  moAe~abputi yddA llh^  In  Tyle Lake., lh  you
AemembeA any oh that?

NN: Okay. . . They had th is "yes" arid "no" business. You AemembeA that?

RW: Yds.

NN: The "no’s" went to Japan and the, "ye¿>'s" stayed. My iatheA was veAy stubboAn. tie,
wanted to go back, but my bAotheA ¿aid "one leht" with his dlsappAoval. . ,

RW: What?

NN: My o ldest bAotheA le h t .  . .see I had one In  Japan you see.

RW: Ok, youA o ldest bAotheA did go to  Japan1

NN:

i

Yeah, he ocas theAe. The ooaA bAoke out. tie came to v is i t  us and he went back to 
Japan. I have an oldeA bAotheA liv ing theAe. tie loos bo An heAe, but he ocas leh t In 
Japan, tie came to v is i t  us and he ooent back and Alght ahteA that the woa bAoke out. 
And ahteA th is " yes" and "no" business, the second. bAotheA, which Is the oldest heAe 
In the United States said "no" he wasn't going back. My hatheA wanted us to go 
back, and then my thlAd bAotheX said "you'Ae getting oldeA and w e 'l l be taking caxe 
oh you so he said we can't make a liv ing In Japan, we don't know the language. So 
he talked to him and said, "No , we can't go back,." And so he listened, my holheA 
listened to him and then we decided to stay and so my othex bxotheA, the second one 
who Is oldest heAe, he d idn 't want lo  sign any kind oh papex yes o a no and so then 
he leh t and got manxled. And so then my thlAd bAotheA ¿said, "No, Vad we got 
to stay heAe because we can't suppoAt you In Japan"¿Hie stayed on [at Tuie Lake) h°x 
some Aeason. I guess he Aenounced his citizenship, tie was undeAage, but he did 
what his hAtheA said. Okay? tie didn’t  want to but he obeyed his h^theA and did 
th is . So then, the bAotheA tha t leh t and maAAied called us said, " I t 's  OK, you can
come. ”

RW: Can T ask about the bAotheA who leht? tie Aeloexited In the United States?

NN: Yeah, tie ju s t leh t and moved to Utah, tha t was. . .because we couldn't go back to
/ whexe we wexe behoAe because we d idn 't own the land^m^ecrixldnJ^-go^Jback-td^^So 

j he had a buddy that lived In Utah, ¿So he went oveA theAe h lxst and then shoAtly 
J ahteA that. . .1 guess eveAybody was leaving anyway now. . .they weAe closing up J 
/ think, okay, so I th ink th a t's  why the decision was made, tha t we weAe to le a ve j 
( J&ut The bAotheA that denounced his citizenship could not leave; people l ik e  that.
 ̂ So theAe weAe a bunch oh them leh t. And then, so we leh t.

RW: And you went to  Utah?

NN: Yes, we my oldeA bAotheA and leh t and we.lived theAe h°}1 a white. And then
ahteA that, when they said they weAe Aeally weAe going to close the centeA, then my 
JoAotheA he came and then he joined the Axmy because theAe was no job. tie Aeally 
planted his citizenship back and he'thought, pexhaps, that way he could get I t  back.

RW: j. . .by joining the Atony?

NN: ¡Yes, and he couldn't go to college, tie was bAight but he couldn't go, because, we 
weAe In the camp.
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RW: Vid he get i t  back?

NN: X th ink he did. I thank you. automatacally do,

RW: . . .token he joined the A xmy?

NN: yeah, consadexang tnax to

affBTTh I -AJU-fr&nP- W ell.

• NN- ^We'xe making a go of i t .

RW:

did get XX back.

That xealty makes me fee l good,  ̂ I t  seems that you and youx family made 
out quite well tn  a d i f f ic u l t  time and satuataon.

Yeah, considexing that toe axe not xich, y j

RW: Whexe did you go aftex Utah, did you go to Calafoxnia?

NN: / let* a Aee attex Utah, I axaduated high school thexe and then toe came back to  ■ .

fxancisco and woxk a t i t t l e  b it and go to Aome kind of School, So th a t1 A to 

RW; What did you study?

NN: Weil, jobA wexe haxd to come by thenf because people wexe A ti l t  pxejudiced
j T went to a, le t 'A  Aee what was that called, a. key punching type of AchoQlr 
I then they place you.

NN: Yeah, i t  was a key-punching, Of couxsef they d idn 't have computexs then, But i t
was a key-punching Achool and then they would place you,

RW: Vid you get a job?

NN: Yes, I did get a _ job,

RW: Good!

NN: Yes, fox an insuxance company,

RW: And so now I guesA you'xe maxxiedf do you have childxen?

NN:' Yes, X do,

RW: How many?

NN: I have two.

U /O  W V  s u l k s > ^  ----------  • —  ■ ^ |  w j  , #  -r>

mas s t i l l  going to school yet. So then we came back to Calif oxnia and then, l 
don't l ik e  countxy faxming. I'm allexgic to the d ix t ox whatevex and J ju s t coulan 
do that kind of woxk, stooping ovex, and so l  decided tha t l  would come to San _
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KW: I*a very happy far yau. This is a really ties t alk we're^ had. I hare 
aae mere questiai I'd like ta ask. Da yau kaaw aayh aiiy else wha was in

Tule Lake wha might he a little elder and wha weuld a't miad haviag this 
kind af talk with me?

NN; Let’s see. • alder., eaa't thiak af aayhedy ald er. . Oh, yau kaaw there jh

is this aae maa. I daa't ka^w what oama he was it, hut he kept all 
these tags aad stuff. Yeu kaaw the auiahers that we  had aad ail that?

He's a member af aur ehureh. I tald him I'd like ta  see them, beeause I

daa't k&aw what happened ta aurs. pp .. yau shtuld talk ta him.

RW: That wapld he fiae. Was he at Tule Lake?

NN: That I daa't kaaw. I'll have ta ©heek with him.  If I thiak d*x he did,

thea I'll drep yau a liae aad tell yau.

RW; That weuld he kiad.
NN: Okay
RW: 2kxh2 Thank yau sa much.

NN: Thanks far ©alliag. It's been pnodcfcxjfexix gr eat talking ta yau.
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Liyes In Richmond? California
Mrs. Nishimoto is the sister of the wife of Ichiro Tsuruda. Ichiro Tsuruda is the 
son of my Tule Lake respondent, Bob Tsuruda.

Born January 19, 1931, Kent, Washington

Naoko Nishimoto: Hello?

Rosalie Wax: Hello. Is th is Naoko Nishimoto?

Naoko Nishimoto: Yes.

Rosalie Wax: This is  Professor Rosalie Wax and i t  was Nikki Tsuruda who 
suggested that l get In touch with you.

Naoko Nishimoto; Oh yes..

Rosalie Wax: I f you have a minute to ta lk , X can te l l  you about I t .  How do you 
feel?

Naoko Nishimoto: Yeah, I have a minute. I don't know I f I can give you any good 
Information or not.

Rosalie Wax: Well, i t ' s  more of a biography that you just te l l  me what happened 
to you. And of course, I won't use your name on I t , and I don't really 
Intend to publish anything at the moment. X ju s t w ill write a report 
for The Rockefeller Foundation on how the people are doing today.

Naoko Nishimoto; Well, You mean the war time, don't you?

Rosalie Wax; Yes.. You see I was In Tule Lake myself as a student from the University 
of California. And X got to know Bob Tsuruda very well. He was a fine 
man.

Naoko Nishimoto; Oh, I see.

Rosalie Wax: And so, X have a fine history of a l l  he told me, which. Is very, very 
Impressive.

Naoko Nishimoto; Well, I was only Id a t the time.

Rosalie Wax; Oh, I see.

Naoko Nishimoto; So I can't really te l l  you too much.

Rosalie Wax: Well, i t  would just be the vlejws of a 10 year old, which, are kind of 
different from others. . .and I f  you have any impressions..

Naoko Nishimoto^ The f i r s t  impression that comes, to my mind was I had so many friends 
to play with. In th is war relocation center In Tule Lake. I was also 
there too.

Rosalie Wax: Yes.

Naoko Nishimoto: That was where my s is te r  was born.

Rosalie Wax: Yes, oh Nikki is  your s is ter.
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NN: Yes. She is  my ststeA Aight below me.

RW; And you weAe 10. Let'a see. . .you weAe not sent to an assmbly centeA then?

NN: Vqj>, we weAe.

RW: Ok. . .

NN: That was tn  WaleAga. And {¡Horn tkeAe we weAe &<in£ to Tuta Lake.

RW: Vtd you have motta &Atends tn WaleAga oti tn  Tuta Laka? Which dtd you ttka  battati?

NN: WaleAga uxu a skoAt tenm, so I had {Atends. . ,0{ counse you muda {Atends batng that
Y aga. But tn Tuta Laka we stayed tkatia tongati and want to Japanese sakoot tn moAntng, 
i and English Sckoot tn  tka a{teAnoon - so that anyttma that you wanted to leave, you 

aoutd continua tn  a pubttc school. That1 s Mhat thay had tn  mtnd. i t  iaxu just Ae- 
! quttiad subjects ttka  Math, English and P.E. 1 gue44 t t  iaxu, X can't AmmbeA too 
1 watt, but. . .tha t iaxu, my {.v u t  tmpAesston bacauòa I didn't knout a lt these motto not 

and woAAies and {tnanctat statuò and things ttka that. ... being a JO yeoA old. . . 
t t  d idn 't coma to mtnd. But tka nicest pant I thtnk to me uxu X had a to t o{ {Atends 
to ptay with bacau&a ttvtng out tn  tka country, you couldn't. And tkan we didn't 
go to ckuAck AegulaAly, we couldn't.

RW: (that dtd you ptay and wkeAe?

NN: f Ok j iu t  abound qua block. . .games, whateveA. Nothing 4 peda l and o{ couasc tkay 
I had a AacAaatton. . .tn  eveAy block tkay had a AacAaatton banAack, 4 o tkaAa weAe 
| thing4 to do. I gua44 tkay WAe donated, , .tkaAa weAe ping pong table4, and baseball 
! bath, whatever. That ¿out o{ stu{{. I don't know wkeAe t t  coma {Aom - money-wise.

RW: Soma o{ t t  was donated by, you knou), ckuAck people and 4 o on.

NN; Thing A ttka  that I don't knou), but t t  uxu tkeAe.

RW; You just played and generally. , ,

NN; f and studied.

RW; Yeah, and studied. And can you think o{ anything that happened tkan that. , .

NN; Something that Aaatly {)lightened me uxu tka n io ts.

RW; Ok yes.

NN; Because, naveA involve anything. , .1 neveA saw anything, oa Aaad anything. . .that 
Aeally {tightened me and I thought to myself, "Gee, we'Ae a l l  Japanese and soma 
people oAa so violent." I couldn't believe tha t, Because I wo4. to ld that Japanese 
weAe veAy kind, sky and a l l  th is. My paAents you see, said a "woman nevea smoked" 
and we weAe suppose to be quiet people and tha t's the tmpAesston X got, and then to 
see this, a lo t. , .and see di{{eAent kinds o{ people that I have neveA encounteAed 
be{oAe. , .

RW; Was th is , . .now X want to make suAe that I know which one you oAe talking about. . . 
because. , .

NN; In Tuie Lake,
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RW: . . .which pasttlculast silot ost &uM. . .Theste was one aAtest a. ianm wostkest was. k it ted ,
theste m u th is  big demonststatlon with the Valhyo sha ka l. Maybe as a l i t t l e  g lu t 
you wouldn't know.

NN; I don 't know what the silot m u about. I t  could have been tha t.

RW: And then latest on theste weste these people who matched and ¿aid "Wash-sho", and
wanted to ¿how th a t they wste steal Japanese.

NN; Yeah, w ell we weren't th a t (laughs )

RW: No, you weren't tha t.

NN: Because oust pastents wanted us to continue oust English education, you know, th a t was
a must.

RW: Yes. 1 was wondesving. . .1 th ink . . .you coststect me now. , .what may have Impressed
you was maybe when. . .some young boys went up and made a big fiuss a t the admlnlstsia
tlo n  building and the pstoject dlstectost tsustned the authosuty ovest to the asuny and 
then tanks came In. . .Is  th a t what you stemembest?

NN: No, I don 't stmmbest th a t a t a l l .

RW: Gee, what do you stemembest th a t scasted you. I'm ju s t  cusilous.

NN: I ju s t  know th a t I t  was a silot. And a l l  these people figh ting , and I don 't know lA
they had anything In  thelst hands... That 1 don 't stemembest.

RW: Gee. You saw people {fighting?

NN: Well, I t  was called a sitot, not ju s t  two people Alghting. . .you know, ju s t  gstoups
oA people. And I kind oA th ink  I t  was the gstoup th a t Wash sho gstoup and the othest 
gstoup. The wash-sho gstoup weste. . t They had. Intended to go hack to Japan, stegastd- 
le ss  oA Ihe wcut, and 1 th ink  th a t was what I t  was about.

RW: Yeah.

NN: A l o t  oA AJv̂ ĉ i ° n I stemembest.

RW; Yeah. That was steally scasty.

N̂N: And th a t 's  the thing 1 stemembest th a t was A^lQhtenlng, because I had nevest seen th a t
beAoste.

RW: Yes.

NN: Especially among yoost own people.

RW: Theste wots a kind oA- • .banging astound between the Wash sho gstoup and some oA the
people who weste with the. . .w ell, I don 't know ju s t  what they called themselves.

NN: I don 't eltheSt. (laughs )

RW: (laughs ) But I t ' s  hastd to  stemembest when you'ste ten . . .
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NN:

RW:

NN:

RW:

NN:

RW:

NN:

RW;

NN:

RW:

NN:

RW';

NN:

RW:

NN:

RW:

NN:

RW:

NN:

RW:

NN;

Scenes l ike  that weAe vague,. And then I Aememben. 
baAMac.lzA. . .was a fanny Reeling, when theycame to seaAch oua

Oh, th l6 w ill help, was that afaeA the Alot?

?Aobably.

)

Veak, I &ee what you mean. Vid anything happen when th

thnt p .,, t  didn't have anything. They canAi&eated aadioi and ¿tuM tike
tUng, U k e ^  ^  * * * * *  wUuttbU> ^  kn™>  «*«* ^  ^

I suppose weapons, knives. . .

th ings f^fee th a t, buX m  d id n 't  have anything. And
we dcd have, you know, the { ewthat we did have, I th ink  my

J ie 1o^Li'lthinnhfhCT P' beeauie T  weAZ toU  t k u  wouldn't keep 
u l n e f t h ^ 3 ̂  my heA iomi ■8u<Wfe£*£» aetigious thing*, but the

And she. had to buAn those?

Yeah, she buAned those.

You AmembeA anything else that was ¿cany?

You sound tike  you weAe a veAy studious, hoAd-woAking t i t t l e  ginl.

Welt, not Aealty. I t ik e  to play. I AemembeA playing a lo t. 

What games did you play?

Oh, you know l ik e  giA l's games. . .you know, weld go to the bathAoom because i t  was 
^  Jacfu> m i theAe and we had a basketball eouAt. . .well, each block 

X ; v °  m  P y ba*ketbaU, voUetbatt,. .the utuaZ ,ta U . I M

When you le fa  the camp, 
with oa  have you kind o

did you s t i l l  keep In  touch with these g ln ls th a t youplayed

Yes, one. Just one. She l iv e s  In  SacAamento now. 

And she is  s t i l t  a good fatiiend ofa youAs?

VaAdon?

She Is s t i l l  a good intend oi youAs?

Yes. In {¡act I'm going to see heA Tuesday. She's going. 

That's veAy nice.RW:
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NN: The nest ol the glnls, they just ¿topped wnltlng. . .we ju s t lo s t touch, but th is
pantlculan one. . .we ju st did because. . . I guess distance. . .we l ive  so close. 
Sacnamento Isn ’t  too lan away, and I can always call ken on m ite  to each otken.
We ¿ee each otken at least 2-3 times a yean on oun m y to Reno. Qaugfis: )! So she 
Is the only one.

RW: This Is the l-insl time I 've talked to somebody u)ko was just 10.

NN: She may have a dlHenent Impnesslon what ¿he thought. Because. . .we neven neatly
discussed At. . .but the Redness. . .the heanings that they had on TV? I don't 
nmmben a lt  that heantbneak whene these otd ladles wene ¿peaking and they wene 
cnylng you know. I gues¿ t t  woa neatly motional and a tnauma, but you ¿ee I d idn't
know th is. . .and so when I woa watching pants, ol th is . I t  wa¿ veny Intenestlng.
I didn’t  get to ¿ee a l l  ol I t .

RW: I mysell woa olden and I know a lo t  ol people who had veny lennlble and Inlahtenlna
expediences.

NN: Yeah, because one -lady ¿aid that they ¿eanched hen body. Well they didn’t  ¿eanch me,
ol counse, being t i t t l e ,  but I don’t  nmrnben that.

RW: Let't ¿ee, I'm tnylng to think t ik e  a 10 yean old, ¿o I can ask you, l e t ’s ¿ee. , .
what did you get the most kick out ol doing?

NN: Oh gee. . .thene wasn't neatly too much that you could do, you wene ¿o confined. We 0
enjoyed hiking though. We used to hike the mountains thene oa you necalt.

RW: Yeah, thene Is that high mountain.

NN: That woa kind ol nice because you couldn't do anything else, and they ¿howed movies A
laten on. That was kind ol nice because when I woa t i t t l e  we didn’t  get a chance to 
¿ee too many movies being out In the countny. that was kind ol nice. And oft counse, 
thene wene the canteens and, well, they wene to go buy Ice cneam which 1 thought was n 
nice because we couldn’t  get Ice cneam too ofiten being out In the countny. We only 
got to buy I t  when we went to town. . . We couldn't ¿pend too much money because
0 l oun . finances-c:

RW: I was just cuaaoua. . .-it was youn lathen, and mo then and you In camp and how many
chltdnen?

NN: Oh my mo then, lathen, two ¿Istens and two bnothens I had.

RW: And then Nikki ms bonn thene?

NN: Yeah. I'm counting hen loo because she was bonn thene.

RW: I t  sounds to me the m y you talked that you must have had veny line panenls who kind
01 sheltened you.

NN: Well, my lathen was stub bonn. . well, they d idn't do too much talking. . .11 they did
. .  . I t  was when I wasn't thene on being In Japanese I pnobably d idn 't undenstand.
I neally didn't know what ms going on.

RW: I beg >uoun pandon?

NN:] I said I neally d idn't know what was going on except that I t  was the wan. . .What's
a wan? Two countnles, lighting, you know? (laughs )
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RW: Could you t e l l  me a l i t t l e  moAe abput youA t i l e  £h Tule Lake, l i  you
AimrnbeA any oi that?

NN: Okay. . .They had thlt> "yes" and "no" buslnes*. You AemmbeA that?

RW: Ye*.

NN: The "no1*" went to Japan and the "ye*1*" stayed. My iatheA wa* veAy stubboAn. tie
wanted to go back, but my bAotheA ¿old "one le i t"  with hi*. dl*appAoval. . .

RW: What?

NN: My oldest bAotheA le i t .  . .*ee 1 had one In  Japan you *ee.

RW: Oh, youA oldest bAotheA did go to Japan.

NN: Yeah, he was theAe. The woa bAoke out. tie came to vl*.lt us and he went back to
Japan. I have an oldeA bAotheA living theAe. He wa* boAn heAe, but he wa* l e i t  In 
Japan. He came to v is i t  us and he went back and Alght aiteA that the woa bAoke out. 
And aiteA th is "ye*" and "no" buslne**, the second. bAotheA, which l* the oldest heAe 
In the United State* said "no" he wasn't going back. My iatheA wanted us to go 

/  back, and then my thlAd bAotheA ¿aid "you'Ae getting oldeA and w e'll be taking caAe
— ol you ¿o he ¿aid we can't make a living In Japan, we don't know the language. Sc?

he talked to him and ¿aid, "Mo , we can't go back." And so he listened, my iatheA 
■ m listened to him and then we decided to stay and ¿o my otheA bAotheA, the. ¿econd one 

who l* oldest heAe, he didn't want to ¿Ign any kind oi papeA ye* oA no and *o then 
N* he l e i t  and got maAAled. And *o then my thlAd bAotheA ss/Lcd, "Mo, Vad we got 

to ¿tay heAe becau*e we can't suppoAt you In Japan", he ¿tayed on [at Tule Lake) ioA 
* ome Aea*on. 1 gue** he Aenounced hi* citizen*hip. He wa* undeAage, but he did 
what hi* iatheA ¿aid. Okay? He didn't want to but he obeyed hi* iatheA and did 
th is. So then, the bAotheA that l e i t  and maAAled called u* ¿aid, " I t1* OK., you can 
come."

RW: Can T a*k about the bAotheA who le it?  He Aelocated In  the United State*?

NN: Yeah. He j u s t l e i t  and moved to Utah, that wa*. . .because we couldn't go back to
I wheAe we weAe beioAe because we didn't own the land we couldn't go back to I t  *o 
I he had a buddy that lived In Utah, *o he went oveA theAe ilASt and then * ho Ally 

aiteA that. . .1 gue** eveAybody wa* leaving anyway now, . .they weAe clo*lng up I 
/ think, okay, *o I think that'*  why the decision wa* made, that we weAe to leave, 

but the bAotheA that denounced his citizen*hip could not leave; people l ik e  that.
So theAe weAe a bunch oi them le i t .  And then, so we le i t .

RW; And you went to Utah?

NN: \Ye*, we iollowed my oldeA bAotheA and l e i t  and we.lived theAe ioA a white. And then 
\ aiteA that, when they ¿old they weAe Aealty weAe going to clo*e the centeA, then my 
1bAotheA he came and then he joined the AAmy because theAe wa* no job. He Aealty 
'¡wanted hi*, citizenship back and he thought, peAhaps, that way he could get I t  back.

RW: I. . .by joining the AAmy?

NN: ¡Yes, and he couldn't go to college. He was bAlght but he couldn't go, because we 
weAe In the camp.
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RW: Did he get i t  back?

NN: 1 th ink  he did. 1 th ink  you automatically do.

rw : . . .u)hen he joined the Army?

RW:

Yeah, and he told them what had happened because the questionnaires Will m y, 
certain questions that, l,did you renounce your citizenship" or whatever about th is 
relocation centeA, and he was very tru th fu l and he said "yes."\ And so X think he 
did get i t  back.

That Aeally makes me ¿eel good. I t  seems th a t you and your family made 
out qu ite well in  a d i f f i c u l t  time and s itua tion .

NN: Yeah, considering th a t we are not r ich .

RW: Yeah, you did Aeal well.

NN: We’re  making a go of i t .

RW: Where did you go a fte r  Utah, did you go to California?

I nnj  , Let's see a fte r  Utah, I graduated high school there and then we came back tcT • ̂
n / V  California. Because th is  other bAOtheAhe came back to California because hxs in -

laws had a place to farm and so he went there with h is wife and farmed and then he 
called us over there again. My s is te r  and X were both working. Of course Nikki 
was s t i l l  going to school yet. So then we came back to California, and then, I 
don’t  l ik e  country farming. I ’m a lle rg ic  to the d i rt  or whatever and X ju s t  CQUldn x 
do th a t kind of work, stooping over, and so I decided th a t l  would come, to San 
Hancisco and work a l i t t l e  b i t  and go to some kind of school. So th a t s  what l  cud

RW: What did you study?

NN: Well, jobs, were hard to come by then, because people were s t i l l  prejudiced yet. So
j I went to a, l e t ’s  see what was th a t ca lled , a key punching type of school, and 
I then they place you,

RW: hey punching, , .

NN: Yeah, i t  was a key-punching, Of course, they didn’t  have computers then, But i t
was a key-punching school and then they would place you,

RW: Did you get a job?

NN: Yes, I did get a job,

RW: Good!

NN: Yes,, for an insurance company,

rw : And so now I guess you’re  married, do you have children?

NN: Yes, I do,

RW: How many?

NN: 1 have two.
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r w : I’m veay happy ion you,

�������������

pfp' t  he an the,.wrR pf -MnM̂  Mils I s a xzatty nice ta lk  we’ve had* Z have, a veAy AhoAt
question I ’d Like to ask, *t~tflvz*TR£*4he

,NN:~ Sul/te. X was bonvi In Kent,, Waffling to ft.

* m X

RW: A&d do you knout anybody else who was tn Tule Lake, who mtght be. a Little. oldeA and
who wouldn’t  mind having th is kind oi ta lk  with me.?

NN: Let’& see. . .oldeA, , , can’t  think, oi anybody oldeA.

RW: U  need. . .

NN: No, X can’t  think oi anybody oldeA, even l i  X did X wouldn’t  know wheAe they aAe,

RW: Yeah, you’Ae Living now wheAe the/ie aAen’t many Ja panese AmeAlcanA aAQund, I a
that /uight?

NN; TheAe a/te, because we have qua  Japanese Ame/uccan Cltczens’ League, But qua  age 
dliieAences I a  a L itt le  dlHeAent and they’Ae not iAom Tule Lake, A lo t  oi them 
a/te iAom otheA centeAA,

r w : Well, then I ’l l  my give my love to Klmlko, I ’ve got to phone heA one oi these
days and just chat. She was AO nice to me, She gave me. the mmeA oi a numbeA oi
people who had been a t Tule Lake, X haven't Aeached them yet, but, , .well I have 
some, but I ’l l  keep tAylng,

'i n N: Well, l i  X think oi anybody, I ’l l  get youA addAeAA iAom heA and le t  you know, X ’Ll  
keep thinking about I t .

RW; That'A ve/iy kind oi you. Thank you.

NN: Oh thank you ioA calling.

RW: Thanks a lot. This was. Aeally iun. Thank you and li you do heaA oi anybody, that
neally would like to talk,  I would just love It.

NN: Oh, you know theAe I a  this one man, X don’t know what camp he woa. In, but he kept
all those tags and stui{. You know the numbeAA that we had and all that,

RW: Yeah, numbeAed Like animals.
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X

NN: I told htmf he's a membest ofi oust chuJtchf I told h im I'd like to  -4C.C. tke/Pf because
X don't know what happened to ousts,  I nevest thought oi keeping that.

RW: you knowf  I nevest knew they put numbests on you, Wheste was th at?

NN: Ok yeahf evesty {¡amity had a numbest.

r w : I see.

NN: You should talk to him, Beeause he'& oldest though,

RW: arete, that would be line, but was he at Tale Lake?

NN: That 1 don't know. I'll have to check with him. I{  I think he dtdf then I'll dstop
you a line and tell you.

RW: That would be steal kind.

NN: Okay.

RW: Thanks so much.

NN: Thanks {ost calling. It's been gsteat talking to yo u,

RW: It's a pleas uste.

NN: Okay, good bye.

RW: Good bye.



January 10, 1982 - NAOKO NISHIMOTO

Mrs. Nishimoto was born January 19, 1931 in Kent, Washington. When s he was
ten years old, she and her family were evacuated to the Walerga Assembly  Center
and from there to the Tule Lake Relocation Center.

RW: Did you have more friends in Walerga or in Tule Lake? Whi ch did you like  
better?

NN: Walerga was a short term, so I had friends...Of course you  made friends being  
that age. But in Tule Lake we stayed there longer and went to Japanes e 
school in morning, and English school in afternoon - so that anytime that you  
wanted to leave, you could continue in a ppblic school. ThatTs wh at they  
had in mind. It was just required subjects like Math, English and P.E. I  
guess it was. I can't remember too well, but...that was my first  impression  
because I didn't know all these emotional and worries and fina ncial status and  
things like that...being a 10 year old...it didn't come to mind.  But the  
nicest part to me was I had a lot of friends to play with because  living out  
in the country, you couldn't. And then we didn't go to church regularly,  
we couldn't.

RW: What did you play and where?

NN: Oh just around our block...games, whatever. Nothing spe cial and of course
they had a recreation...in every block they had a recreation barrack, so  there  
were things to do. I guess they were donated...there were ping pon g tables,  
and baseball bats, whatever. That sort of stuff. I don't know where i t  
came from - money-wise.

RW: You just played and generally...

NN: And studied.

RW: And can you think of anything that happened then that...

NN: Something that really frightened me was the riots.

RW: Oh yes.

NN: Because, I never involve anything...I never sawanythin g or read anything...  
that really frightened me and I thought to mysel. "Gee, we'r e all Japanese  
and some people are so violent»1! I couldn't believe that . Because I was told  
that Japanese were very kind, shy and all this. My parents you see , said  
a "woman never smoked" and we were suppose to be quiet peo ple and that *s the  
impression I got, and then to see this riot..and see different  kinds of  
people that I have never encountered before. And that's the thing I remember  
that was frightening, because I had never see that before. And then I re member 
when they came to search our barracks... that was a funn y feeling.

RW: Did anything happen when they searched your barracks?
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NN: No, we didn't have anything. They confiscated radios and stuff like that,  
but we didn't have anything. And anything Japanesy, that we did have,  the  
few that we did have, Ithink my parents burned it before we went  into camp.
Because we were told we couldn't keep it. The only thing that m y mother had  
was some Buddhist, religious things, but she burned those.

RW: Do you remember anything else that was scary?

NN: No, I don't. Of course, the kind of living was different, you know.
You had community bathroom and the showers and stuff like that, wh ich I had  
never experienced, but other than that I can't really...going to school and  
studying kept my mind busy. So you kind of got used to the routine.,  
didn't think too much of it.

RW: You sound like you were a very studious, hard-working little girl.

NN: Well, not really. I like to play. I remember playing a lot.

RW: What games did you play?

NN: Oh, you know, like girl's games..we'd go to the bathroom because it was  
cement and play jacks in there and we had a basketball court.. . well, each  
block had one. So we played basketball, volleyball...the usua l stuff. I remember  
playing ping-pong.

RW: When you left the camp, did you still keep in touch with these  girls that  
you played with or have you kind of...

NN: Yes, one. Just one. She lives in Sacramento now.

RW: And she is still a good friend of yours?

NN: Yes. In fact I'm going to see her Tuesday.
The rest of the girls, they just stopped writing...we just lost touch, but  
this particular one...we just did because...I guess distance ...we live so  
close. Sacramento isn't too far away, and I can always call her or write  
to each other. We see each other at least 2-3 times a year on our wa y to  
Reno. (laughs) So she is the only one.

RW: This is the first time I've talked to somebody who was just 10.

NN: She may have a different impression what she thought. Becau se...we never  
really discussed it...but the Redress..the hearings that they had on TV?
I don't remember all that heartbreak where these old ladies were sp eaking  
and they were crying you know. I guess it was really emotion al and a trauma,  
but you see I didn't know this...and so when I was watchin g parts of this.
It was very interesting. I didn't get to see all of it.

RW: I myself was older and I know a lot of people who had v ery terrible and  
frightening experiences.

NN: Yeah, because one lady said that they searched her body. Wel l they didn't  
search me, of course, being little, but I don't remember that.
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RW: Let's see, I'm trying to think like a 10 year old, s o I can ask you, let's  
see...what did you get the most kick out of doing?

NN: Oh gee...there wasn't really too much that you could do, you were so confined.  
We enjoyed hiking though. We used to hike the mountains there as you recall.

RW: Yeah, there is that high mountain.

NN: That was kind of nice because you couldn't do anything else , and they showed  
movies later on. That was kind of nice because when I was little we didn't  
get a chance to see too many movies being out in the country. That wa s kind  
of nice. And of course, there were the canteens and, well, they were to  
go buy ice cream which I thought was nice because we coulnd't get ice cream  
too often foxing out in the country. We only got to buy it wh en we went to  
town...We couldn’t spend too much money because of our  finances.

RW: It was your father, and mother and you in camp and how many childr en?

NN: Oh my mother, father, two sisters and two brothers I had.

RW: It sounds to me the way you talked that you must have had very  fine parents  
who kind of sheletered you.

NN: Well, my father was stubborn...well, they didn't do too much talking...if  
they did...it was when I wasn't there or being in Japanese I p robably didn't  
understand. I really didn't know what was going on.

RW: I beg your pardon?

NN: I said I really didn't know what was going on except that it was  the war...  
What's a war? Two countries, fighting, you know? (laughs)

RW: Could you tell me a little more about your life in Tule Lake, if you remembe r  
any of that?

NN: Okay...They had this"yes" and "no" business. You remember tha t?

RW: Yes.

NN: The "no's" went to Japan and the "yes's" stayed. My father was very stubbo rn  
He wanted to go back, but my brother said "one left" with his disapproval ...

RW: What?

NN: My oldest brother left..see I had one in Japan you se e.

RW: Oh, your oldest brother did go to Japan?
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NN: Yeah, he was there. The war broke out. He came to visit us a nd he went
back to Japan. I have an older brother living there. He was born here,  
but he was left in Japan. He came to visit us and he went back and right  
after that the war broke out. And after this "yes" and "no" business ,  
the second brother, which is the oldest here in the United States said  
"no" he wasn’t going back. My father wanted us to go back, and the n my  
third brother said "you're getting older and w e ’ll be taking care of you  
so he said we can’t make a living in Japan, we don’t know the lang uage. So  
he talked to him and said, "no, we can't go back." And so he listened,  
my father listened to him and then we decided to stay and so my other brother,
the second one who is oldest here, he didn’t want to sign any kind of paper
yes or no and so then he left and got married. And so then my third brother  
said, "No, Dad we got to stay here because we can’t support you in Japan".
He stayed on (at Tule Lake) for some reason. I guess he renounc ed his  
citizenship. He was underage, but he did what his father said. Okay?
He didn’t want to but he obeyed his father and did this. So then, the broth er that  
left and married called us said, "It's OK, you can come."

RW: Can I ask about the brother who left? He relocated in the United States?

NN: Yeah. He just left and moved to Utah, that was ...because we couldn't g o back
to where we were before beceause we didn’t own the lan d. So he had a buddy  
that lived in Utah. So he went over there first and then shortly after  
that...I guess everybody was leaving anyway now...they wer e closing up,
I think, okay, so I think that’s why the decision was made, that we were  to  
leave. But the brother that denounced his citizenship could not leave;  
people like that. So there were a bunch of them left. An d then, so we left.

RW: And you went to Utah?

NN: Yes, we followed my older borther and left and we lived there for  a while.
And then after that, when they said they were really going to clos e the center,  
then my brother he came and then he joined the Army because th ere was no  
job. He really wanted his citizenship back and he thought, perhaps, that  

way he could get it back.

RW: ...by joining the Army?

NN: Yes, and he couldn’t go to college. He was bright bue he could n't go, because

we were in the camp.

RW: Did he get it back?

NN: I think he did. I think you automatically do.

RW: ...When he joined the Army?

NN: Yeah, and he told them what had happened because the question naires will say,
certain questions that, "did you renounce your citizenship"  or whatever  
about this relocation center, and he was very truthful and he said "Yea". And so  

I think he did get it back.

RW: That really makes me feel good. It seems that you and you r family made out  

quite well in a difficult time and situation.
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NN: Yeah, considering that we are not rich. We're making a go  of it.

RW: Where did you go after Utah, did you go to California?

NN: Let's see after Utah, I graduated high school there and then we came bac k
to California. Because this other brother he came back to Calif ornia because  
his in-laws had a place to farm and so he went there with his wife and farmed  
and then he called us over there again. My sister and I were both working.
Of course Nikki was still going to school yet. So then we cam e back to  
California and then. I don't like country farming. I'm allergie t o the dirt  
or whatever and I just couldn't do that kind of work, stooping over, and  
so I decided that I would come to San Francisco and work a litt le bit and  
go to some kind of school. So that's what I did.

RW: What did you study?

NN: Well, jobs were hard to come by then, because people were still prejudiced  
yet. So I went to a, let's see what was that called a key punc hing type  
of school, and then they place you.

RW: Key punching?

NN: Yeah, it was a key-punching. Of course, they didn't have co mputers then.
But it was a key-punching school and then they would place you.

RW: Did you get a job?

NN: Yes, I did get a job.

RW: Good!

NN: Yes, for an insurance company.

RW: And so now I guess you're married, do you have children?

NN: Yes, I do.

RW: How many?

NN: I have two.

RW: I'm very happy for you. This is a really nice talk we' ve had. I have one
more question I'd like to ask. Do you know anybody else who wa s in Tule  
Lake who might be a little older and who wouldn't mind h aving this kind of  
talk with me?

NN: Let's see...older...can't think of anybody older...oh , you know there is this  
one man. I don't know what camp he was in, but he kept all those tags an d 
stuff. You know the numbers that we had and all that? He's a member o f  
our church. I told him I'd like to see them, because I don't know  what  
happened to ours...You should talk to him.
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RW: That would be fine. Was he at Tule Lake?

NN: That I don't know. I'll have to check with him. If I  think he did, then

I'll drop you a line and tell you.

RW: That would be kind.

NN: Okay

TW: Thank you very much.

NN: Thanks for calling. It's been great talking to you.
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Nao&o Nishimoto 

ten
Naoko Nishimoto was xxins/years ©Id when her family

was evacuated from Washington. From the Assembly Center they were sent to 

Tule Lake, fifing ! &he herself appears to have had  a fairly

untraumatic RmpuEiBmaifflimmfe existence atxtxS at Tule Lake, but she gave me 

an interesting ware account of ±x r  her family's difficulties in leaving.

Her oldest brother, she said, had been Sent to Japa n and was in Japan at 

the outbreak of the war£

After this ”Tes” and #No# business, the second brot her ,̂ which is 

xk the oldest here in the United States adbix said,  ’•No," he 

wasn’t going to go back (to tfaqax&i Japan).

My father wanted us to go M a t  back. And then my thi rd brother 

said, ’’Tou’re getting olderan and we’ll be takinaa rĵ  of you. We 

can’t make a living in Japan. We don’t know the lan guage.” So 

he tixkHsi talked to him and said, ”jfo, we can’+f go back.”

So my father listened to him and we decided to stay .

And so my other brother, the seonĉ  one who is olde st here, he 

didn’t want to sign any paper, Tes or No, and so he  left 

and got married. • . ify third brother, he stayed o n^at Tule Lake^  

for some reason. I guess he/ renounced his citizens hip. He 

didn’js want to, but he obeyed his father and did t his, 

c Then the brother who left and married called us and  said,

XQQGC "sSfcr.OK, you can come out.

RW: Can I ask about the brother who left? .He reloc ated in the 

IGCe©aC United States?

NN: Tes. He left and went to Utah. That was because  we couldn't go 

back to where we were before because we didn’t own the land. / • •

He had a!buddy stkx that lived in Utah, so we went over there first.

But the brother thant denounced his citizenship cou ld not 

leave. • • and then, when they said they were reall y apaixKg

going to c}.©se the center, tty brother, he came, a nd then he joined 

the Army because there was no job. He really wanted  his
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citizenship back, and he thoughts perhaps, that way  he could 

get it back.

RW: By joining the Army?

NN: Tes. He could go to college. He was bright, but  he couldn't 

go because we were in camp.

RW: Bid he get it back?

NN: I think he did. • He told them what had happene d because the

D
questionnaires will saf, "̂ id you renounce your cit izenship?" 

or whatever, about this relocation center, and he w as very 

truthful and he said, "Yes". Atad xx so he did get it xka 

back.

RW: Where did you go after Utah?

NN: After Utah, I graMated high school there and th en we came back
�

to California. Because, this other brother, he came ba ck to 

California because# his in-laws had a place to farm . So he went 

there with his wife and farmed and then he called u s over there 

again. And then we came back to Califronia, and the n, I don't 

like country farming. I'm allergic to the dirt or w hatever, and I 

just couldn't do that kind of sock  work. So I decided that I 

would come to San Francisco and work a little bit a nd go t  to some 

kind of school.

RW: What did you study?

NN: Well, jobs were hard to come by then, because p eople were still

prejudiced. So I went to a key punching school and then they 

would place you.

RW: Did you get a job?

NN: Yes, I did get a job, for an insurance company.

At the end of the interview I asked Mrs. Nishimoto whether she knew anyone 

else who had been at Tule Lake who might be willing  to talk to me.

She responded,"There is this one man, I don't know what camp he was in, but he 

kept all those tags and stuff. You know jfckadExsi the  numbers that we had and
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all that? • • 

what happened

I told him I ’d like to see bs® them , because I don ’t know 

to ours.J*. • every family had a number.”


